
PLANNING , REGULATORY 
AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

MEETING
5.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 3RD FEBRUARY, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that this meeting of the Planning, Regulatory 
and Licensing Committee will be recorded for subsequent broadcast via 

the Authority’s Internet Site. 
 

The images and sound recording may also be used for training 
purposes within the Authority.

At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or part of the 
meeting is being recorded.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by 
entering the Chamber and using the Public Seating Area, Members 

of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the possible 
use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 
(01685) 725203 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


2. Declarations of Interest 
Members of the Planning and Regulatory 
Committee are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s 
Constitution and the Members Code of Conduct.

a. Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest; and

b. Where Members withdraw from a meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave. 

Planning Applications - Recommendations under the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 and the Planning and Compensation Act 1991

3. P/15/0254 - Land To The South West (0.1Km) of 
Bryn Rhedyn And To The North (0.15Km) of Nant 
Y Fedw Farm, Bedlinog 
To consider a report of the Corporate Director 
(Place and Transformation).

(Pages 1 - 14)

4. P/15/0434 - Land At Maesynant Grove Park, 
Merthyr Tydfil 
To consider a report of the Corporate Director 
(Place and Transformation). 

(Pages 15 - 22)

Information Reports

5. Delegated Decision Report List -  1 December to 
31 December 2015 
To receive a report of the Corporate Director 
(Place and Transformation). 

(Pages 23 - 28)

Other Business

6. Any Other Business as Deemed Urgent by the 
Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillors C T Jones (Chair) 
B E Mansbridge (Vice-Chair)

H Barrett, T Chaplin, E Galsworthy, A Jones, 
W R Smith, G Lewis, S Slater, L E Smart and 
S Williams

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725203

Os byddai’n well gennych gopi o’r agenda hwn mewn iaith arall, cysylltwch a 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01685 725203

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk
mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/15/0254 30th July 2015 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Construction of solar photovoltaic 
farm with associated 
infrastructure, including access 
tracks, invertor stations, duo 
cabinet sub stations, storage 
room, temporary compound, 
fencing, security cameras and 
landscaping 

Land To The South West  
(0.1 Km) Of Bryn Rhedyn 
And To The North (0.15 
Km) Of Nant Y Fedw 
Farm 
Bedlinog  
 
 

Mr A Mazzitelli  
c/o Shawn Cullen 
F.a.o. Mr S Cullen 
1 Leyshon Way 
Bryncethin 
Bridgend    

 
APPLICATION SITE 
 
This application relates to an area of agricultural land within a countryside location 
measuring approximately 9 hectares. The site is located to the south-west (0.36km) of the 
main settlement of Bedlinog, with the nearest properties being Bryn-Rhedyn (0.1km) to the 
north-east of the site and Nant Y Fedw Farm (0.15km) to the south. 
 
The site comprises three fields of open grassland which are used for grazing and is bound 
on all sides by pastoral fields. The extent of the site is largely defined by a combination of 
post and wire fencing, a number of trees along parts of the southern boundary and 
dilapidated stone walls along part of the southern, western and northern boundaries.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 
There is evidence of a historical field boundary crossing through the centre of the eastern 
half of the site (from east to west). This is formed by a row of trees located on an 
embankment, which has eroded over the years. Additionally, the north-eastern part of the 
site includes a large group of mature trees that encloses a smaller section of the fields.  
 
The site is situated in an area of undulating open landscape, which is characterised by 
expansive grassland to the west and woodland areas to the north-east and south-west, 
which is typically used for grazing and recreational purposes. 
 
The site generally slopes down from north-west to south-east with the north-eastern part of 
the site sloping down to the east. Due to the topography of the surrounding area the 
majority of the views of the site would be from the north-east to the south, particularly from 
elevated positions. 
 
Access into the site is via an existing unmade track that leads to the western part of the site 
from the south. This track links to a network of tracks which serve a number of farms in the 
area and links to Twynygarreg, approximately 3.65km to the south of the site. 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the construction of a 5MW solar farm (for a period of 
25 years) involving the erection of lines of photovoltaic panels laid in modules on a west to 
east axis across the site. The scheme would comprise a total of 17,440 photovoltaic panels, 
all of which would face south. The solar panels would be mounted on steel frames 
measuring approximately 3.8m deep, which would vary in length between 8-13m and would 
be pile driven 1.5m into the ground. The height of the solar panels would be 2.25m with 
each row of panels being installed between 3m and 7m apart. The solar panels would be 
connected to the national grid via underground cabling. 
 
A number of service buildings/structures would be required as part of the operation of the 
development. These would be located on either side of the access track on hard standing 
areas measuring between 10m-12m wide by 10m-18m deep. The buildings/structures 
would be:- 
 

 A DNO (Distributor Network Operator) cabin measuring 6m wide by 3.4m deep and 
2.9m high. 

 Inverter stations measuring 12.2m wide by 2.5m deep and 2.9m high. 

 A customer substation measuring 3.65m wide by 2.75m deep and 2.9m high. 

 A storage room measuring 6.5m wide by 2.5m deep and 2.9m high. 
 

These buildings/structures would be pre-fabricated and of a green GRP (Glass Reinforced 
Polymer) construction. 
 
Part of the existing unmade track serving the development would be improved and 
extended across the centre of the site, from north-west to south-east, to provide access to 
the inverter stations, substations and operator buildings etc. The access track would 
measure approximately 4m wide by 1.1km in length and would be constructed with a 0.2m 
deep hardcore surface. 
 

Page 2



A detailed landscaping scheme has been submitted as part of the application. The proposal 
involves the construction of stone walls along the western boundary of the site and the 
planting of hedgerows along parts of the western, northern and eastern boundaries. A 
number of infill trees are also proposed to be planted along the boundaries and across the 
centre of the site. 
 
It is proposed that a 2.2m high deer fence would be erected around the perimeter of the 
application site together with a total of 27 CCTV cameras mounted on 2.5m high posts. 
Additionally, a temporary compound would be provided in the western corner of the site 
adjacent to the access track measuring 46m wide by 34m deep. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
There is no relevant planning history relating to the application site. 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Internal consultees 
 
Engineering and Highways 
Manager - No objection subject to conditions relating to  
  surface water drainage and access. 
 

Town Planning Division’s Policy 
and Implementation Group Leader - No objection. 
 

Town Planning Division’s 
Countryside Officer - No objection. 
 

Town Planning Division’s Design, 
Heritage and Conservation Officer - OBJECTION: The location of the solar farm is  
  inappropriate and would have an unacceptable  
  impact on the historic landscape . 
 

Town Planning Division’s 
Landscape Architect - OBJECTION: The solar farm would have an  
  unacceptable impact on the landscape character,  
  as well as negative visual and cumulative  
  impacts. 
 

Rights of Way - No response. 
 

Environmental Health Manager - No objection. 
 

External consultees 
 

Natural Resources Wales (NRW) - No objection subject to a condition relating to 
landscaping and ecological management. 

 

Glamorgan Gwent  
Archaeological Trust (GGAT) - No objection subject to a condition relating to a 

programme of archaeological works. 

Page 3



 
Cadw - No objection. 
 
Bedlinog Community Council - OBJECTION: The proposed development would  
  have an adverse visual impact on views within  
  Bedlinog Village, to the detriment of the character  
  of the area. 
 
Welsh Water - No objection. 
 
Wales & West Utilities - No objection. 
 
Western Power Distribution - No response 
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Wales) Order 2012, letters were sent to nearby properties on the 6th August 2015 and a 
notice was displayed in the local newspaper on the 20th August 2015. Additionally, a total of 
8 site notices were displayed around Bedlinog on the 7th August 2015. 
 
A further two publicity exercises were carried out, following the submission of additional 
information in relation to the landscape and visual impact assessment. Letters were sent to 
nearby properties on the 10th November 2015 and 7th January 2016 and site notices were 
displayed on the 11th November 2015 and the 7th January 2016. 
 
As a result of these publicity exercises, 283 letters of objection and a petition with a total of 
164 signatures were received. In summary, the following issues were raised: 
 

 The solar farm would be inappropriately located and would result in a blot on the 
nature rich landscape and would be out of character with the rural area. 

 There are cairns on the periphery of the site which are of historical interest which 
may be disturbed by the development. 

 The large scale of the development would dwarf a small village such as Bedlinog. It  
would be visible from most of the village and Craig Fargoed Cemetery, resulting in 
an adverse impact on the unspoilt views of Bedlinog and Gelligaer Common, both of 
which are of historic importance. 

 People visit Bedlinog for a number of reasons including using the climbing centre, 
cycling, walking and pony trekking. Bedlinog is an area that is used recreationally, 
which includes the 'Loop and Links' trails. 

 Some of the viewpoints presented do little justice in illustrating the character of the 
area and should also consider the effects during the winter period. 

 The assessment of the landscape appears to lack local knowledge of the area. The 
considerations of the visual amenity are misrepresented and would have adverse 
effects despite the presence of trees which would not conceal the site from 
residents. 

 There are concerns that birds flying over the solar farm would be harmed by 
reflections from the solar panels. 

 There are rare birds in the Bedlinog valley including Curlews and Red Kites which 
are seen flying in the area and should be protected from the development. 

Page 4



 Residential amenity would be adversely affected by noise and disturbance generated 
during the construction stage of the development. 

 Due regard should be given to the infrastructure, glare/reflection, type of fencing and 
appearance of the development to ensure it is in keeping with the surrounding area. 

 Given the topography of the site, regard should be given to the potential pollution of 
water courses. 

 House prices in Bedlinog would be affected by the development. 

 It appears that there has been no consultation with local residents with many 
villagers being unaware of the proposed development. 

 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National planning policy 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW), 8th Edition, January 2016: 
 
Section 4.5 - Planning for climate change. 
 
Para 4.5.2 sets out the Welsh Government’s commitment towards a low carbon economy to 
tackle future climate impacts through a number of key areas, which includes energy 
generation. 
 
Para 4.5.7 recognises the need to proactively reduce the demand for energy and facilitate 
the delivery of new and more sustainable forms of energy provision at all scales as a 
means towards a low carbon economy. 
 
Section 5.5 - Development management and the conservation and improvement of the 
natural heritage. 
 
Para 5.5.1 highlights the importance of biodiversity and landscape considerations in the 
determination of planning applications and the need to take reasonable steps to safeguard 
or enhance the environmental quality of land. 
 
Para 5.5.2 acknowledges that regard should be given to the environmental impacts of 
development proposals and the need to avoid any adverse effects. Where there are 
potential impacts, this should be balanced with other material considerations and the local 
planning authority should seek to minimise any effects and where practicable enhance 
features of nature conservation.  
 
Section 6.5 - Development management and the historic environment. 
 
Para 6.5.1 emphasises the importance of preserving an ancient monument and its setting 
and the presumption in favour of preserving in situ archaeological remains of national 
importance. In cases that involve an impact on lesser archaeological remains, regard 
should be given to the importance of those remains against other factors, including the 
need for the proposed development. 
 
Para 6.5.9 indicates that where a development affects a listed building or its setting, special 
regard should be given to the desirability of preserving the building, or its setting, or any 
features of special architectural or historical interest which it possesses. 

Page 5



 
Para 6.5.17 notes that where a proposed development conflicts with the objectives of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a conservation area, or its setting, 
there should be a strong presumption against the granting of planning permission. 
 
Para 6.5.25 highlights the need to protect historic landscapes and to consider the 
implications a development may have on that landscape, which may be of more than local 
importance. 
 
Section 8.7 – Development management and transport 
 
Para 8.7.1 sets out the criteria that should be taken into account when considering 
development proposals that have potential transport implications. 
 
Para 8.7.2 identifies the importance of Transport Statements as a mechanism for assessing 
anticipated highway impacts of a development proposal. 
 
Section 12.10 - Development management and renewable and low carbon energy 
 
Para 12.10.1 sets out the criteria that should be considered in the assessment of 
applications for renewable and low carbon energy development and associated 
infrastructure. 
 

 The contribution a proposal will play in meeting identified national, UK and European 
targets and potential for renewable energy, including the contribution to cutting 
greenhouse gas emissions;  

 The wider environmental, social and economic benefits and opportunities from 
renewable and low carbon energy development;  

 The impact on the natural heritage, the Coast and the Historic Environment;  

 The need to minimise impacts on local communities to safeguard quality of life for 
existing and future generations;  

 Ways to avoid, mitigate or compensate identified adverse impacts;  

 The impacts of climate change on the location, design, build and operation of 
renewable and low carbon energy development. In doing so consider whether 
measures to adapt to climate change impacts give rise to additional impacts;  

 Grid connection issues where renewable (electricity) energy developments are 
proposed; and  

 The capacity of and effects on the transportation network relating to the construction 
and operation of the proposal. 

 
Technical Advice Note (TAN): 
 
TAN 5 - Nature Conservation and Planning, September 2009 
 
Para 4.1.1 sets out the measures that should be followed in delivering the protection and 
enhancement of nature conservation required by PPW. 
 
Para 4.6.1 – 4.6.2 supports the use of appropriate conditions that may contribute to 
biodiversity conservation. 

Page 6



 
TAN 6 – Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities, July 2010 
 
Para 3.7.2 supports the diversification of agricultural land to accommodate renewable 
energy schemes. 
 
TAN 8 - Renewable Energy, July 2005 
 
Para 2.1 acknowledges the role of the planning system to meet the Welsh Government’s 
commitment to enabling the deployment of all forms of renewable energy technologies. 
 
TAN 18 – Transport, March 2007 
 
Para 9.19 supports the use of conditions to secure transport measures and facilities as part 
of a development proposal, which may include details of deliveries to the site and 
mitigations to offset any highway implications. 
 
Local planning policy 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021: 
 
Section 2.2.11 of the LDP identifies the need to combat climate change through the 
promotion of energy efficiency and renewable energy technologies to assist in the reduction 
of CO2 emissions. This is reinforced by the vision and primary aim of the LDP, as set out in 
its Strategic Objectives. The following policies are relevant to the determination of this 
application: 
 

 Policy BW4 - Settlement boundaries/locational constraints 

 Policy BW5 - Natural heritage 

 Policy BW6 - Townscape and built heritage 

 Policy BW7 - Sustainable design and place making 

 Policy BW8 - Development and the water environment 

 Policy BW10 - Mineral safeguarding 

 Policy BW12 - Development proposals and transport 

 Policy AS4 - Historic landscape 

 Policy TB7 - Renewable energy 

 Policy TB9 - Mineral buffer zone 

 Policy TB11 - Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities 
 
Policy TB7 of the LDP specifically relates to renewable energy schemes and states that: 
 
Development proposals that contribute to meeting national and local renewable energy 
targets will be favourably considered providing:- 
 

 In the case of wind turbine developments, their capacity does not exceed 25MW on 
urban and industrial brownfield sites, and 5MW elsewhere in the County Borough. 

 They do not have an unacceptable impact on biodiversity and landscape including 
the setting of the Brecon Beacons National Park 

 They do not have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of residential areas. 

Page 7



 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
 
SPG 1 - Planning Obligations, March 2012 
SPG 5 - Nature and Development, May 2015 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Land Use 
 
The planning system has an important role in achieving the Welsh Government’s 
commitment to enable the deployment of all forms of renewable energy technologies in 
Wales. Section 12.8.9 of PPW highlights the need for local authorities to facilitate the 
development of renewable and low carbon energy.  
 
Whilst there is an aim to secure an appropriate mix of energy provision for Wales, Section 
12.8.6 of PPW highlights that this should be balanced against the need to avoid, and where 
possible minimise environmental, social and economic impacts. The importance of clean 
energy and the efficient use of natural resources, both as an economic driver and a 
commitment to sustainable development is recognised at all levels of policy.  
 
The proposed solar farm would be located outside of the settlement boundary as defined by 
the LDP Proposals Map and is therefore regarded to be located within the open 
countryside. The development of the site is generally supported by Policy BW4 of the LDP, 
which acknowledges that renewable energy schemes are an acceptable form of 
development in countryside locations, subject to its compliance with other relevant policies. 
Furthermore, Policy TB7 of the LDP states that development proposals that contribute to 
meeting the national and local renewable energy targets should be favourably considered 
provided it does not have an unacceptable impact on biodiversity, the landscape or the 
amenity of residential areas. 
 
Therefore the proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle and 
complies with policies BW4 and TB7 of the LDP. 
 
Archaeology and cultural heritage 
 
An Archaeological and Cultural Heritage Assessment has been submitted in support of the 
application. The assessment notes that the application site is situated approximately 2km 
west of the Gelligaer Registered Landscape of Special Historic Interest, where there is 
some potential inter-visibility with the proposed development. Taking into account the Zone 
of Theoretical Visibility (ZTV), the development would also be within 2km of four Scheduled 
Ancient Monuments (SAM) which includes: 
 

 GM270 - Tir Lan Round Barrow Cemetery 

 GM271 - Coed Cae Round Cairns 

 GM272 - Cefn Merthyr Round Cairns 

 GM320 - Platform Houses on Coity Uchaf 
 
Additionally, the assessment has identified two listed buildings, namely the Grade II Listed 
Corbelled Pigsty at Penddeugae Fach and the Grade II Salam Baptist Chapel to the north-

Page 8



west (576m) and east (664m) of the site respectively. The latter of these buildings is located 
in the Cwmfelin Conservation Area. 
 
The assessment notes that the intervening topography and landscape features surrounding 
the site would largely screen the development from the identified historical assets. 
However, there would be some inter-visibility with the Coed Cae Round Cairns and the 
Gelligaer Registered Landscape of Special Historic Interest. The assessment indicates that 
the application site does not directly contribute to the significance of the cairns and the 
proposal would not measurably change their setting. Similarly, the assessment concludes 
that views of the development from the Registered Landscape would not significantly 
impact on its character, with a negligible change in the existing views. In this regard, it is 
acknowledged that Cadw considers the development would only have a limited impact on 
the designated historic assets and has therefore not raised any objection to the proposal. 
Similarly, NRW have not raised any concerns and are of the view that the proposal would 
not have a significant adverse effect on the Registered Landscape. GGAT have raised no 
objection to the development and have noted that there is limited potential for unrecorded 
archaeological remains to exist within the site. However, of particular concern is the 
potential impact of the access track and any field boundaries that may need to be breached 
during construction. As such, GGAT has requested a programme of archaeological works 
be secured by condition. 
 
The Town Planning Division’s Design, Heritage and Conservation Officer has 
acknowledged that the development would be visible from a number of historic assets 
referred to above. It is further argued that a more in-depth analysis of the special character 
of the historic landscape is required, in order to fully assess the potential impacts of the 
development, which must be analysed in terms of its local importance to the community and 
users of the historic landscape.  
 
Policies BW6 and AS4 of the LDP seek to preserve or enhance the character, setting and 
quality of the built heritage and historic landscapes. Whilst it is appreciated that there are 
some concerns over the adequacy of the assessments provided, particularly in relation to 
the historic landscape, taking into consideration the comments from Cadw and NRW, it has 
been concluded that the development would not have an adverse impact on the key 
characteristics of the aforementioned historic designations. Therefore the proposal is 
considered to comply with policies BW6 and AS4 of the LDP. 
 
Landscape and visual impact 
 
A Landscape Character and Visual Impact Assessment (LCVIA) has been submitted in 
support of the application. This is accompanied by two addendum reports, which include a 
number of photomontages and an Arboricultural Impact Assessment to inform the 
assessment of the development. To determine the extent that the development would be 
visible within the landscape, a Zone of Theoretical Visibility (ZTV) plan has been produced, 
which illustrates that the solar farm would be mainly visible from the north, east and south 
of the site, particularly from elevated positions. Views of the development to the west would 
be limited by the land form of the area. The ZTV also indicates that the development would 
be potentially visible from the majority of the main settlement of Bedlinog, including the 
Cwmfelin Conservation Area. 
 

Page 9



Through an assessment of sensitivity and magnitude of effects on landscape character 
areas, judgments can be made about the scale of effects of any change in the landscape 
qualities, the value placed on the landscape and how it is experienced by receptors. In this 
respect the LCVIA considers the potential landscape effects and the visual effects from a 
number of viewpoints. The high value placed on the landscape is acknowledged in the 
LCVIA, particularly in relation to its habitat, historic and cultural qualities, with its mosaic of 
habitats, irregular fieldscape, dispersed settlement pattern, as well as, industrial and pre-
historic remains. 
 
The LCVIA considers the landscape quality of the site to be poor due to current site 
conditions, which includes demolished structures, poor and declining hedgerows and the 
lack of management to boundary trees. However the quality of the landscaping surrounding 
the site is considered in the LCVIA to be good and of medium value, based on its locality to 
heritage assets, Cwmfelin Conservation Area and the number of properties that face the 
site. The LCVIA notes that the proposed solar farm would have an overall major-moderate 
adverse effect on the site itself, but in the wider area this would be reduced to a moderate 
or minor adverse effect. Additionally, when considering the condition and quality of the 
landscape, the LCVIA considers the effect of the development to be negligible when 
balanced against the enhancement works to the landscape features within the site.  
 
The Town Planning Division’s Landscape Architect highlights that the landscape of the area 
where the development is proposed is characterised by its steep valleys sides with a 
diversity of land cover. The essential attractive features include a substantial proportion of 
tree and scrub cover and a mosaic of enclosed farmland and bracken. This landscape is 
considered by The Town Planning Division’s Landscape Architect to be highly sensitive to 
large scale development. Given the size of the proposed solar farm, with its vast number of 
rows of solar panels and their rigid frameworks, the development would be particularly 
industrial in nature. This would be in stark contrast with its countryside setting and would 
thus significantly harm and interrupt the rural and tranquil characteristics of the area. 
 
In regards to the potential visual effects of the development, the LCVIA primarily focuses on 
areas that fall within the ZTV where sensitive receptors are located. A total of 12 viewpoints 
have been selected, which include views of the development from various locations within 
the Bedlinog settlement. Viewpoints have also been taken from open access land to the 
west and south of the site as well as from trails across the valley to the south-east and 
north-east.  
 
The LCVIA notes that from viewpoints 6, 8, 9, 11 and 12, which include the public rights of 
ways and residential areas, the proposed solar farm would largely have moderate to 
substantial adverse effects on those views. These effects would be reduced to minor or 
moderate adverse through mitigation. In this regard, a detailed landscape and character 
mitigation strategy has been submitted, which seeks to enhance the landscape character of 
the site by improving the management of existing hedgerows and trees, as well the 
retention, repair and construction of dry stone walls along the site boundaries. The scheme 
also includes the extensive planting of additional trees and ‘instant’ hedgerows to further 
screen the development. Photomontages have been submitted which illustrate how the 
views of the site might evolve over a period of 1 to 10 years. 
 
The Town Planning Division’s Landscape Architect has expressed concerns that the 
photomontage viewpoints and their resulting assessments are misleading, as the 

Page 10



development is often presented as a small component of a larger panoramic view, which 
does not reveal an accurate reflection of how the site might be viewed or appreciated by 
receptors. 
 
It has clearly been identified in the LCVIA that the development would have adverse visual 
effects on the surrounding landscape, particularly from the viewpoints noted above. It is 
considered that there is heavy reliance on the landscape mitigation strategy to address the 
negative effects of the development. Whilst the proposed management of existing trees and 
repairs to boundary stone walls would to some extent improve the quality of the site, the 
Town Planning Division’s Landscape Architect has raised concerns about the effectiveness 
of both the existing and proposed vegetation to provide significant improvements to the 
visual experience. During winter/autumn period, which is effectively 6 months of the year 
where there is little or no leaf cover, the development would be more prominent in the 
landscape than suggested in the submitted assessment. This would result in a greater 
impact on the visual amenity experienced by residents within Bedlinog. Additionally, the 
reliance on slow growing evergreen species would unlikely reach a suitable height required 
to form an effective screen. 
 
Whilst it is appreciated that the additional landscaping is to mitigate the visual impacts of 
the development, this degree of planting, together with 2.2m high fencing and CCTV 
columns, would over emphasise the boundaries of the site, which would be detrimental to 
the character and appearance of the area and would draw greater attention to the 
development within the landscape. Furthermore, the development would appear visually 
dominant when viewed from the south, as is evident in Viewpoint 9 (to the south of Nant Y 
Fedw Farm). Even with enhanced landscaping a large proportion of the development would 
remain visible. 
 
The Town Planning Division’s Landscape Architect has noted that there is a network of 
public footpaths (including the 'Loop and Links' trails) used for recreational purposes 
(Viewpoint 6) that lead walkers around the Craig Fargoed side of the Bargoed valley (to the 
south-east of the site). Along these footpaths there are various vantage points where wider 
landscape views can be appreciated by recreational receptors. Even with mitigation, it 
would be difficult to successfully screen the development from these locations.  Additionally, 
the Town Planning Division’s Landscape Architect has noted that views of the development 
from elevated positions, such as those from Gelligaer Common (Viewpoint 1), where there 
are long range panoramic views to the south-west, would have potential for cumulative 
impacts with two wind turbines located to the south of the site. 
 
It is acknowledged that similar concerns to those noted above have also been raised by the 
Town Planning Division’s Design, Heritage and Conservation Officer in respect of the 
potential visual impacts on the historic landscape. She considers that the development 
would be much more visible from the surrounding area than that illustrated in the LCVIA 
and that the potential impacts on the various viewpoints are likely to be greater than that 
concluded in the LCVIA. Additionally, the Town Planning Division’s Design, Heritage and 
Conservation Officer has indicated that the development would also be strongly visible by 
both pedestrians and drivers from a number of other locations in elevated areas of Bedlinog 
i.e. Upper High Street, Moriah Street, High Street and George Street. 
 
It is considered that the proposed development would have significant visual impacts on the 
landscape character which is deemed to be of a high value. It would also have an adverse 

Page 11



visual effect on the views experienced by recreational users of the countryside. The LCVIA 
fails to demonstrate that the effects on the landscape can be adequately and successfully 
mitigated. In this regard the Town Planning Division’s Landscape Architect and Design, 
Heritage and Conservation Officer have raised an objection to the development. Therefore, 
the development is not considered to comply with policies BW5 and TB7 of the LDP. 
 
Residential Amenity 
 
The nearest residential properties to the proposed development would be Bryn-Rhedyn 
(0.1km) to the north-east of the site and Nant Y Fedw Farm (0.15km) to the south. The Glint 
and Glare Analysis shows that these properties would not be affected by reflections off the 
photovoltaic panels. Furthermore, the presence of intervening vegetation would help to 
minimise any limited times at which glint and glare might occur towards the main settlement 
of Bedlinog (0.36km to the west of the site). 
 
There would likely be some noise and disturbance to these residents during the 
construction phase of the development. However, this would be temporary in nature and 
not experienced when the solar farm is operational. As such the proposal would not have 
an adverse impact on the amenities of neigbouring residents. 
 
Natural environment 
 
The application site lies within the vicinity of three Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation (SINC). Cwm Bargoed (SINC No. 25) lies immediately to the north of the site, 
with Cwm Fedw (SINC No. 31) and Mynydd-y-Capel Common (SINC No. 32) located 
approximately 200m to the south and west of the site respectively. As such, a Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal has been submitted in support of the application. 
 
The ecological appraisal identifies a number of features within the site that have potential 
ecological value i.e. stone walls, trees and hedgerows which may be used by roosting bats, 
nesting birds and reptiles. The ecological appraisal identifies that there is some potential for 
these habitats to be disturbed, particularly during the construction phase of the 
development. However, given that all of the existing stone walls, trees, and hedgerows are 
to be retained, the ecological appraisal does not identify any adverse impacts on protected 
species or habitats. Additionally, the ecological appraisal sets out a number of 
recommendations relating to the timing of works, enhancements to the landscape and the 
provision of log piles and bird/bat boxes. 
 
The Town Planning Division’s Countryside Officer has raised no objection to the 
development, and has indicated that whilst there would be some negative ecological 
impacts, predominantly in the short term (i.e. disturbance to vegetation and stone walls 
during construction), there are some positive benefits arising from the proposal, including 
the retention, management and restoration of hedgerows. In this regard it is also noted that 
Natural Resources Wales have not raised any objection to the proposal. Therefore the 
proposal complies with policy BW5 of the LDP. 
 
Ground conditions 
 
The majority of the site lies within a sandstone safeguarding area and as such is protected 
from permanent development by Policy BW10 of the LDP. It is considered that the solar 

Page 12



farm is temporary in nature, albeit for a period of 25 years, and would not sterilise the site 
from future mineral extraction. Therefore the proposal complies with policy BW10 of the 
LDP. 
 
Flooding consequences 
 
The development could increase the concentration of surface water run-off from the 
photovoltaic panels, which can give rise to flooding concerns. As such, a Flood 
Consequence Assessment (FCA) has been submitted in support of the application. 
 
The FCA report indicates that the site is not at any risk from direct flooding and is therefore 
focused on reducing the risks associated with surface water run-off. The report concludes 
that the development would have a negligible impact on the surface water discharge rates 
from the site. Chisel-ploughing between the rows of solar panels would help increase 
infiltration rates and the planting of trees and hedgerows would further improve the 
attenuation of water and minimise any risks of erosion to the land. 
 
It is considered that the proposed development would have a minimal impact on the water 
environment. In this respect, the Engineering and Highways Manager has not raised any 
objection. Therefore the proposal complies with policy BW8 of the LDP. 
 
Highway impacts 
 
Part of the existing unmade track serving the application site would be upgraded with a 
hardcore surface. Additional tracks would also be created within the site to enable a 
suitable means of access into the site during the construction and operational phases of the 
development. Improvements may also be required along the access tracks leading to the 
site, in the form of temporary matting to allow for necessary ground clearance for vehicles. 
 
The greatest impact on the highway infrastructure would be during the construction phase.  
A Construction Traffic Management Plan has been submitted in support of the application. 
The report indicates that the construction period of the development would take up to 16 
weeks with a total of 86 HGV vehicles visiting the site. Once the development is 
operational, there would be approximately three visits a year by van or 4x4 vehicles to 
maintain the equipment on site. 
 
The components of the solar park would be transported by road using a combination of 
strategic and local road networks. It is anticipated that the construction traffic would travel 
north along the A470 trunk road and exit onto the A472, which leads to Cardiff Road 
(A4054) through Treharris. The construction traffic would then continue along Commercial 
Terrace towards Tywnygarreg, where it then travels north along a lane and access tracks to 
the application site. It is noted that part of the lane was previously used to transport wind 
turbine components.  
 
The Construction Traffic Management Plan indicates that the proposed access route to the 
application site can adequately accommodate the vehicles transporting the components of 
the solar farm and that the traffic generated would result in no material impact on the 
highway network. In this respect, it is noted that the Engineering and Highways Manager 
has not raised any highway safety concerns, subject to a condition relating to a ‘walk over’ 

Page 13



survey to review the condition of the lane from Twynygarreg to the application site. 
Therefore, the proposal complies with policies BW12 and TB11 of the LDP. 
 
Representations 
 
The main issues raised as a result of the publicity exercise have been considered in detail 
in the relevant sections of this report. 
 
As members will be aware, the potential impact the proposed development may have on 
house prices in Bedlinog is not a material planning consideration and should be given no 
weight in the determination of this application. 
 
In respect of the objection raised about the lack of consultation, a number of publicity 
exercises were appropriately carried out to notify residents of this application. This is 
evident in the number of representations subsequently received. In addition, prior to the 
submission of this application, the applicant contends that they attempted to engage with 
the local community, ward councillors and the Bedlinog Community Council. 
 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
The principle of the development is considered to be acceptable and would contribute to 
meeting local and national renewable energy targets. The impact on historic designations, 
ecology, as well as the highway implications and flooding risks, are deemed to be 
acceptable. However, the overall significant adverse impacts on the character and visual 
appearance of the landscape, which cannot be overcome by mitigation, do not outweigh the 
benefits of the development. For the reasons set out in this report, the proposed 
development would run contrary to policies BW5 and TB7 of the LDP. Accordingly, the 
following recommendation is made: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE REFUSED for the following REASONS: 
 
 1. The proposed solar farm, by virtue of its size and siting would result in an 

inappropriate development in a sensitive rural setting. As such it would have a 
significant impact which is detrimental to the character of the landscape and contrary 
to policies BW5 and TB7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan 2006-2021. 

 
 2. The proposed solar farm, by virtue of its prominent siting and size, would have a 

significant visual impact, which would be detrimental to the experience and 
enjoyment of the landscape by residents of and visitors to Bedlinog, users of 
Gelligaer Common and the public footpaths and trails on open access land to the 
south-east of Bedlinog. Therefore, the proposal fails to comply with policies BW5 and 
TB7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan 2006-2021. 

 
 
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 

Page 14



 
            

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/15/0434 11th December 2015 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Residential Development Land At Maesynant 

Grove Park 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Mr S Meredith  
c/o Stephen George 
Architects 
25 Courtland Terrace 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0DT 

 
APPLICATION SITE 
 
This application relates to an irregular shaped area of land measuring approximately 
0.15 hectares with a maximum depth of 51.5m from north to south and a maximum width of 
47m from east to west. The site generally slopes downwards from north to south with a 
plateau at the centre of the site. There is also a water course located near the eastern 
boundary of the site.  
 

The application site currently forms part of the residential curtilage of Maes Y Nant which 
adjoins the northern part of the site.  To the west is a private access road serving a number 
of detached dwellings forming part of Grove Park. A public footpath (Red Lane) runs along 
the eastern boundary of the site with large detached properties beyond. To the south is an 
adopted highway serving a row of semi-detached dwellings forming part of King Edward 
Villas. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Outline planning permission is sought for the residential development of the site. All matters 
relating to access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale have been reserved for 
future consideration. 
 
An indicative layout plan has been submitted in support of this application which illustrates 
a potential scheme comprising three detached dwellings with detached garages located to 
the south of the existing Maes Y Nant property. The upper and lower scale limits of each 
dwelling would measure between 9m-10.5m wide by 10m-12.5m deep and 9m-11.8m high. 
The garages would measure between 5.5m-6.5m wide by 5.5m-6.5m deep and 4.3m-5.5m 
high. 
 
The indicative layout plan suggests that the proposed dwellings would be orientated 
towards King Edwards Villas, with front and rear garden areas. The garages and driveways 
would be located to the rear of the properties and served by a shared private driveway 
which is accessed off King Edward Villas. Members should be aware that this plan simply 
indicates how the site could be developed. The layout of the site is not being considered 
under this application. If this application is approved then another application(s) would have 
to be submitted which proposes the layout and other reserved matters. 
 
Councillor Toomey requested that this application be presented to the Planning & 
Regulatory Committee so that the merits of this application can be carefully considered. 
 
PLANNING HSITORY 
 
P/14/0322 - Residential Development (Outline). 
 

   Permission GRANTED on 05.02.2015 
 
P/12/0169 - Erection of 9 detached dwellings with associated access road and  

highway works. 
 

REFUSED permission on 27.06.2013 for the following reasons: 
 
1. The proposed development by virtue of its unacceptable design and 
poor layout fails to provide an appropriate response to the surrounding 
context, particularly in terms of the siting of the dwellings and the level 
of private amenity space provided for each residential plot. The poor 
layout gives prominence to the extensive parking provision and new 
access road with limited land made available for the delivery of a 
comprehensive landscape scheme. Therefore, the proposed 
development would have a poor relationship with the surrounding area 
to the detriment of the character and visual amenity, contrary to Policy 
BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan 2006-2021. 
 
2. The proposed dwellings by virtue of their scale and proportion in 
terms of their width, height and roof design fail to harmonise with the 
character/style of the existing properties in the area, resulting in a 
negative impact on the visual amenity and quality of the street scene. 

Page 16



Furthermore, the steeply pitched roofs on the gabled features to the 
front and rear elevation of each dwelling, together with the cramped 
positioning of the windows (including bay windows) and doors on the 
front elevations to each dwelling would have an adverse impact on the 
character and visual amenity of the surrounding area. Therefore the 
proposed development runs contrary to Policy BW7 of the Merthyr 
Tydfil Local Development Plan 2006-2021. 
 
3. The proposed dwellings located on plots 6 and 7, by virtue of their 
siting in close proximity to the private garden area serving Elm Tree 
House, Grove Park, would give rise to an unacceptable level of 
overlooking that would adversely impinge on the amenities of those 
nearby occupiers. Therefore the development would be detrimental to 
the living conditions which those neighbouring occupiers could 
reasonably expect to enjoy, contrary to Policy BW7 of the Merthyr 
Tydfil Local Development Plan 2006-2021. 

 
The application was subsequently DISMISSED at appeal (Ref: APP/U6925/A/13/2209984) 
on the 10.03.2014. 
 
P/11/0357 - Erection of 14 dwellings comprising 6 pairs of semi detached and 2  

detached, with associated access road and highway works. 
 

Application WITHDRAWN on 11.01.2012 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Engineering and Highways 
Manager    - No objection subject to conditions relating to  

structural design, drainage, retaining works and 
access. 

 

Town Planning Division’s  
Policy & Implementation 
Group Leader   - No objection. 
 
Town Planning Division’s 
Countryside Officer   - No objection. 
 
Town Planning Division’s 
Landscape Architect  - No objection. 
 
Environmental Health Manager - No response. 
 
Welsh Water    - No objection subject to conditions relating to foul  

and surface water details. 
 
Wales & West Utilities  - No objection. 
 

Western Power Distribution - No response. 
 

Page 17



PUBLICITY 
 

In accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
Order 2012, letters were sent to neighbouring properties on the 18th December 2015 and 
three site notices were displayed within the vicinity of the site on the 22nd December 2015. 
 

No representations were received as a result of this publicity exercise. 
 

POLICY CONTEXT 
 

The policies listed below are considered to be relevant in the determination of this 
application: 
 

National Planning Policy 
 

Planning Policy Wales (PPW), 8th Edition, January 2016: 
 

Sections 4.11.9 – 4.11.12 sets out the principles of good design in new development 
proposals, which should take into account its relationship to its surrounding context. Regard 
should be given to the appropriate scale, appearance, landscaping and quality of building 
design and should also be accessible for all. 
 

Sections 5.5.1 – 5.5.3 notes that the impact a development proposal may have on wildlife 
or the landscape is an important consideration in determining application. Where ever 
possible adverse effects on the environment should be avoided or acceptably minimised. 
 

Section 8.7.1 sets out the criterion that should be considered where transport implications 
may occur, such as impacts on local travel demand, public transport provision, accessibility 
and highway safety. 
 

Sections 9.3.1 – 9.3.4 highlights that new housing schemes should be well integrated with 
and connect to the existing patterns of settlements. Sensitive infilling of small groups of 
houses, or minor extensions to groups may be acceptable, though much will depend upon 
the character of the surroundings. In determining applications for new housing, particular 
regard shall be given to the area’s character, amenity and density. High quality design and 
landscaping standards are also important. 
 

Local Planning Policy 
 

Adopted Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021: 
 

 Policy BW1 - Development strategy – Primary Growth Area. 

 Policy BW4 - Settlement boundaries / locational constraints. 

 Policy BW5 - Natural heritage. 

 Policy BW7 - Sustainable design and place making. 

 Policy BW8 - Development and the water environment. 

 Policy BW12 - Development proposals and transport. 

 Policy BW17 - Securing community infrastructure benefits. 

 Policy AS4 - Historic landscape. 

 Policy AS22 - Affordable housing contributions. 

 Policy TB11 - Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities. 

Page 18



 
Other Material Considerations 
 

 SPG1 - Affordable Housing, March 2012. 

 SPG2 - Planning Obligations, March 2012. 

 SPG4 - Sustainable design, July 2013. 

 SPG5 - Nature and Development, May 2015. 

 CSS Wales Parking Standards, January 2008. 
 

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 

Land use 
 

The application site is located within the settlement boundary as defined by the LDP 
Proposals Map. As such, the development of the site for residential purposes is supported 
by Policy BW4 of the LDP. Furthermore, the site is situated within the ‘Primary Growth 
Area’ as defined by Policy BW1 of the LDP where the majority of new development is 
encouraged. 
 

It is considered that the principle of the proposed development is acceptable. In this respect 
it is acknowledged that outline permission (P/14/0322) was recently granted on the site 
albeit, that scheme also included Maes Y Nant, which has been excluded from this 
proposal. 
 

Design 
 

Whilst matters relating to the layout, scale and appearance of the proposed development 
have been reserved for future consideration, an indicative layout plan has been submitted 
in support of the application, which demonstrates a potential residential scheme.  
 
The layout plan indicates that a row of three detached properties along the south-western 
part of the site, with a set back from the main highway, could provide an appropriate 
response to the existing pattern of development of the area. The layout plan adequately 
demonstrates that a residential scheme with garages could be accommodated within the 
site and would include sufficient amenity space, without adversely impacting on the 
character of the area. 
 
The scale parameters for the minimum/maximum width, depth and height of the dwellings 
and garages, which would form part of any outline permission, are considered to be 
acceptable and would enable the detailed design of the development (as part of a reserved 
matters application) to provide an appropriate response to the surrounding context. 
 
Subject to the detailed design of the development being considered as part of a reserved 
matters application, it is considered that the site can be developed without adversely 
impacting on the character and appearance of the area. Therefore, the proposal complies 
with Policy BW7 of the LDP. 

Page 19



 
Amenities 
 
The indicative layout plan suggests that the dwellings could be setback from the boundaries 
of the site to ensure a suitable separation distance with existing properties. This approach 
would help minimise any concerns with potential overlooking or overbearing impacts on 
neighbouring occupiers. The indicative plan shows that a residential scheme could be 
suitably accommodated within the site without adversely impacting on the amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers. However such impacts would be fully considered as part of a future 
reserved matters application if this application is permitted. Therefore, the proposal 
complies with Policy BW7 of the LDP. 
 
Environment 
 
The application site is considered to be of limited ecological value and the development of 
the site is unlikely to have a significant impact on any protected species or natural features. 
In this regard it is noted that the Town Planning Division’s Countryside Officer has not 
raised any objection to the development. 
 
It is acknowledged that there is a ditch crossing through the site, which would be culverted 
as part of the development. Flooding issues have been experienced historically in the area 
from the ditch. The development of the site would present an opportunity to improve the 
drainage and discharge of water from the site. 
 
A detailed landscaping scheme has not been submitted, as this matter has been reserved 
for future consideration. It is considered that the site is of a sufficient size to incorporate an 
appropriate landscaping scheme, which may include the planting of trees and hedgerows in 
the garden areas to complement the character and appearance of the area. Therefore, the 
proposal complies with Policies BW5 and BW8 of the LDP. 
 
Highways 
 
The indicative layout plan suggests that off-street parking could be provided on a driveway 
and in garages for each residential property with access off the main highway via a shared 
private drive.  
 
It is considered that the existing highway is capable of accommodating the additional traffic 
generated by the development. In this regard, the Engineering and Highways Manager has 
not raised any highway safety concerns. Subject to the future detailed design of the 
development, it is considered that a suitable means of access and parking provision could 
be provided without giving rise to highway safety concerns. Therefore, the proposal 
complies with Policies BW12 and TB11 of the LDP. 
 
Planning obligations 
 
Policies BW17 and AS22 of the LDP consider the requirements for planning obligations and 
affordable housing respectively. Using the Three Dragon’s Toolkit, the Town Planning 
Division’s Policy & Implementation Group Leader has assessed the viability of the 
development. In this instance a financial contribution towards the provision of affordable 
housing in the area is required, together with an appropriate monitoring fee. This would be 

Page 20



secured by means of a Section 106 agreement. The terms of the Section 106 agreement 
would require the applicant to pay an affordable housing contribution of £13,000 to the 
Council. 
 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
For the above reasons, the proposed residential development of the site is considered to 
acceptable and complies with the relevant LDP policies. Accordingly, the following 
recommendation is made: 
 
RECOMMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS and the 
applicant (and anyone else with an interest in the land) ENTERING INTO A SECTION 106 
AGREEMENT. 
 
 1. Details of the access, appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, (hereinafter called 

"the reserved matters") shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before any development begins and the development shall be 
carried out as approved. 

  
 Reason -  To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

and Part (3)1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Development Procedure) 
(Amendment) (Wales) Order 2012. 

 
 2. Any application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local 

Planning Authority not later than three years from the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason -  To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

and Part (3)1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Development Procedure) 
(Amendment) (Wales) Order 2012. 

 
 3. The development shall begin either before the expiration of five years from the date 

of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of approval of 
the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later. 

  
 Reason -  To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

and Part (3)1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Development Procedure) 
(Amendment) (Wales) Order 2012. 

 
 4. No development shall commence until details of a scheme for the disposal of foul 

and surface water has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the occupation of the dwellings and retained in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - To ensure adequate disposal of foul and surface water drainage in 

accordance with Policy BW8 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
 5. Prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby approved a plan indicating the 

positions, height, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected 
shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. The boundary 
treatment shall be completed as approved before the dwellings are occupied. 

Page 21



  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive and 

boundaries protected in the interests of amenity in accordance with Policy BW7 of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 6. No development shall take place until details, including structural calculations and 

facing materials, of any retaining wall which exceeds 1 metre in height have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The walls shall 
be completed in accordance with the approved details before the development 
hereby approved is brought into beneficial use.  

  

 Reason - In the interest of safety and visual amenity in accordance with Policy BW7 
of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan . 

   

 7. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall 
be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of 
the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any 
trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species. 

  

 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 
interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 

 8. No development or site clearance shall commence until the local planning 
authority have been informed in writing of the name of a professionally qualified 
archaeologist who is to be present during the undertaking of any excavations in the 
development area so that a watching brief can be conducted. No work shall 
commence until the local planning authority has confirmed in writing that the 
proposed archaeologist is suitable. A copy of the watching brief report shall be 
submitted to the local planning authority within two months of the archaeological 
fieldwork being completed. 

  

 Reason - In order that the archaeological operations are undertaken to an 
acceptable standard and that legitimate archaeological interest in the site is satisfied 
in accordance with Policy BW6 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 

 9. The access road/driveways serving the development shall be completed prior to the 
occupation of the dwellings in accordance with the approved details. 

  

 Reason - In the interests of road safety in accordance with Policies BW12 and TB11 
of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 

10. Construction works shall not take place outside the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 Mondays 
to Fridays and 09:00 to 14:00 on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Public 
Holidays. 

  

 Reason - To ensure that the noise emitted/activities are not a source of nuisance to 
occupants of nearby properties in accordance with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil 
Local Development Plan. 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Page 22



FOR INFORMATION 

 

 

DELEGATED DECISION REPORT LIST: 1 – 31 DECEMBER 2015 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/15/0265 Land To The East 
Of Maen Ganol 
And To The South 
Of Maen Gilfach 
Treharris 
 

Residential development and provision of 
car parking facility to serve Maen Ganol 

Refusal 21/12/2015 

P/15/0309 22 Market Street 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3HL 
 

Change of use from Use Class B1 (Offices) 
to Use Class C3 (Dwellings) to provide 
supported living accommodation with 8 
flats, communal kitchen and lounge and 
an office 
 

Full Approval 08/12/2015 

P/15/0312 Land At Former 
Council Depot 
New Road 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3DA 
 

Change of use from Council Depot to 
transport depot.  Erection of new 
industrial unit, office building and canopy 
to existing building with associated 
hardstanding and engineering works 

Full Approval 10/12/2015 

P/15/0321 Glenbrook 
High Street 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6AD 
 

Installation of bay window, erection of 
two storey rear extension and single 
storey rear extension and erection of 
detached garage 

Full Approval 03/12/2015 

P/15/0339 Wern Rugby Field 
And Premises 
Penlan View 
Ynysfach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Retention of two spectator stands with 
associated toilet facilities and concrete 
path, and creation of hard surfaced 
parking areas and gated accesses 

Full Approval 03/12/2015 

 

 

DATE WRITTEN 21 January 2016 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Various 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 3 February 2016 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/15/0340 33 Rhodfa Terrace 
Merthyr Road 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4JG 
 

Erection of two storey rear extension and 
single storey rear extension and erection 
of detached garage (Re-submission) 

Full Approval 02/12/2015 

P/15/0342 D Hughes Ltd 
Pontsarn Road 
Pontsarn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2TN 
 

Extension to industrial unit and 
reprofiling of embankment (part of which 
is retrospective) 

Full Approval 03/12/2015 

P/15/0344 Land To The Rear 
Of Brynberian 
Perthygleision 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Renewal of planning consent P/11/0272 
for residential development 

Outline Approval 08/12/2015 

P/15/0345 St Merryn Meat 
Pengarnddu 
Industrial Estate 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2TA 
 

Extension of the current bone trailer 
loading bays to the rear (east) of the 
existing factory building complex 

Full Approval 03/12/2015 

P/15/0348 Ty Penderyn 
26 High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8DP 
 

Advertisement consent for projecting 
sign, fascia sign, logo sign and internal 
poster frame 

Advertisement 
Approval 

10/12/2015 

P/15/0349 Unit 14C 
Cyfarthfa Retail 
Park 
(former Unit 3 
Thorn Site) 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Variation of condition 29 of planning 
permission P/13/0156 which restricts the 
retail use to the sale of bulky non food 
goods only, to allow the sale of pets, pet 
food, pet related products and ancillary 
pet care, treatment and grooming 
services 

Full Approval 11/12/2015 

P/15/0350 Unit 14C 
Cyfarthfa Retail 
Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Installation of partial mezzanine level Full Approval 03/12/2015 

 

Page 24



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/15/0351 Rookwood Dental 
Surgery 
Rookwood House 
Gwaelodygarth 
Lane 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8EX 
 

Change of use to include a second dental 
surgery within existing dental practice 

Full Approval 11/12/2015 

P/15/0353 Land Adjacent To 
Westwinds 
Millfield 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
CF46 5LD 
 

Retention of boundary walls and garden 
steps 

Full Approval 09/12/2015 

P/15/0358 20 - 22 Pontmorlais 
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8UB 
 

Change of use from A1 (shop) to A3 (food 
and drink) to part of the lower ground 
and ground floor, to provide a restaurant 
with associated kitchen and storage 
facilities.  Erection of an extraction flue 
to the rear 
 

Full Approval 11/12/2015 

P/15/0359 Woodstock 
Somerset Lane 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2PA 
 

Retention of change of use from dwelling 
to dwelling with dog grooming, dog 
boarding and dog training business 

Refusal 23/12/2015 

P/15/0361 Land Adjacent To 
Garage Block And 
Apple Cottage 
Church View 
Chapel Street 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Demolish the existing row of 6 garages 
and construct a row of 7 garages 

Full Approval 18/12/2015 

P/15/0362 Ty Newydd 
Brondeg 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1TW 
 

New dwelling with associated parking in 
the garden of Ty Newydd Brondeg 
Heolgerrig 

Refusal 16/12/2015 

 

 

Page 25



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/15/0366 Land To The Rear 
Of No's 57-61 
Ernest Street 
Warlow Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Demolition of garages and erection of 
new detached dwelling with associated 
external works 

Full Approval 18/12/2015 

P/15/0367 46 Cyfarthfa 
Gardens 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2SE 
 

Retention of change of use of land to 
domestic garden 

Full Approval 18/12/2015 

P/15/0370 Taff Bargoed 
Centre 
Trelewis 
 
 

Change of use of part of the building 
from vehicle repair garage to vehicle 
repair and MOT centre.  Installation of 
roller shutter door and creation of new 
vehicular access 
 

Full Approval 18/12/2015 

P/15/0373 Land Between The 
River Taff And The 
New Merthyr Vale 
To Aberfan Road  
(Golwg Yr Afon) 
Merthyr Vale 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Raising the level of the land to create a 
development plateau 

Full Approval 10/12/2015 

P/15/0377 Land At Tai Mawr 
Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of an agricultural barn Refusal 01/12/2015 

P/15/0380 The Grange  
Pontycapel Road 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2PY 

Change of use of dwelling to five 
bedroom guesthouse and conversion of 
existing garage to residential 
accommodation 

Full Approval 16/12/2015 

P/15/0381 Walled Garden 
Cyfarthfa Park 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Installation of 5 cctv cameras around the 
walled garden on top of mounted posts 

Full Approval 21/12/2015 

P/15/0384 49 Nantycoed 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4HG 
 

Extension of roof of conservatory to form 
a supported canopy 

Certificate of Law 
Refused 

21/12/2015 

 

Page 26



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/15/0388 Land At Corona 
Court 
Georgetown 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection and display of interpretation 
panel sign 

Advertisement 
Approval 

24/12/2015 

P/15/0416 Former Mardy 
Hospital 
Mardy Close 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Non-material amendment to alter the 
boundary treatment of the landscape 
buffer to plots 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 and 12 
from that approved under planning 
permission P/07/0292 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Refused 

21/12/2015 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 P/15/0254 - Land To The South West (0.1Km) of Bryn Rhedyn And To The North (0.15Km) of Nant Y Fedw Farm, Bedlinog
	4 P/15/0434 - Land At Maesynant Grove Park, Merthyr Tydfil
	5 Delegated Decision Report List -  1 December to 31 December 2015

